UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
COMMISSIONERS:

Lina M. Khan, Chair
Noah Joshua Phillips
Rebecca Kelly Slaughter
Christine S. Wilson
Alvaro M. Bedoya

In the Matter of:
Meta Platforms, Inc.,
a corporation,

Docket No. 9411
REDACTED PUBLIC VERSION

Mark Zuckerberg,
a natural person,
and
Within Unlimited, Inc.,
a corporation.

COMPLAINT
Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), and by
virtue of the authority vested in it by the FTC Act, the Federal Trade Commission
(“Commission”), having reason to believe that Respondents Meta Platforms, Inc. (“Meta”), a
corporation controlled by Respondent Mark Zuckerberg, has agreed to acquire Within Unlimited,
Inc. (“Within”), in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, which if consummated
would violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the
FTC Act, and it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be
in the public interest, hereby issues its complaint pursuant to Section 5(b) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(b), and Section 11(b) of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 21(b), stating its charges as
follows:
NATURE OF THE CASE
1.
Meta, one of the largest technology companies in the world and the leading
provider of virtual reality (“VR”) devices and applications (“apps”) in the United States, seeks to
acquire Within, a software company that develops apps for VR devices, including the highly
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6.
As Meta fully recognizes, network effects on a digital platform can cause the
platform to become more powerful—and its rivals weaker and less able to seriously compete—as
it gains more users, content, and developers. The acquisition of new users, content, and
developers each feed into one another, creating a self-reinforcing cycle that entrenches the
company’s early lead. This market dynamic can spur companies to compete harder in beneficial
ways by, for example, adding useful product features or hiring additional employees. But it can
also make anticompetitive strategies more attractive.
7.
Meta seeks to exploit the network-effects dynamic in VR. Indeed, Mr. Zuckerberg
has made clear that his aspiration for the VR space is control of the entire ecosystem. As early as
2015, Mr. Zuckerberg instructed key Facebook executives that his vision for “the next wave of
computing” was control of apps and the platform on which those apps were distributed, making
clear in an internal email to key Facebook executives that a key part of this strategy was for his
company to be “completely ubiquitous in killer apps”—i.e., in significant VR apps that prove the
value of the technology. In that same email, Mr. Zuckerberg told his executives that Facebook
should “us[e] acquisitions opportunistically.”
8.
The proposed acquisition of Within would be one more step along that path
toward dominance. According to Within’s co-founder and CEO, “Fitness is the killer use case for
VR.” But instead of choosing to compete on the merits through its own VR dedicated fitness app,
Meta has resorted to proposing this unlawful acquisition.
9.
If Meta is able to proceed with the Proposed Acquisition, the merger poses a
reasonable likelihood of substantially lessening competition in the market for VR dedicated
fitness apps, where Supernatural
10.
Having simply bought up the
Meta would no longer have
any incentive to develop its own competing app from scratch, add new features to Beat Saber or
other existing Meta apps to compete with Supernatural on the merits, or acquire a small
generalist studio that could supplement Meta’s considerable existing resources and VR knowhow to develop an app to compete with Supernatural. Instead of adding a significant new rival to
the mix, the Acquisition would simply let Meta assume total control of the
overnight. That lessening of competition violates the antitrust laws.
11.
Moreover, a company poised on the edge of a market may exert competitive
pressure on existing participants. Regardless of whether such a company actually intends to
enter, the possibility that it may do so can spur other companies already in the market to
proactively ramp up their own competitive efforts. Meta, poised on the edge of the VR dedicated
fitness app market with its popular Beat Saber app, and with all its vast resources and unique
strategic advantages, exerts such an influence. That pressure spurs the market leader, Within, to
add new features, retain employees, continue innovating, and generally compete harder in order
to stay a step ahead of Meta in the event it decides to enter. The Proposed Acquisition would
eliminate that incentive for market participants to compete, again in contravention of the antitrust
laws.
12.
When viewed against the backdrop of the broader VR fitness app market, which
includes both dedicated or deliberate fitness apps (“dedicated fitness apps”) and apps, such as
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rhythm and active sports games, that provide an incidental fitness benefit (“incidental fitness
apps”), the merger is no less anticompetitive. Letting Meta acquire Supernatural would combine
the makers of two of the most significant VR fitness apps, thereby eliminating beneficial rivalry
between Meta’s Beat Saber app and Within’s Supernatural app.
13.
Accordingly, the Proposed Acquisition poses a reasonable probability of
eliminating both present and future competition. That lessening of competition may result in
reduced innovation, quality, and choice, less pressure to compete for the most talented app
developers, and potentially higher prices for VR fitness apps. And Meta would be one step closer
to its ultimate goal of owning the entire “Metaverse.”
JURISDICTION
14.
Respondents Meta and Within are each “corporations” as defined in Section 4 of
the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and in Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. § 12.
15.
Respondent Mark Zuckerberg is a natural person and a “person” within the
meaning of Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12(a), and Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. § 18.
16.
Respondents and each of their relevant operating entities and subsidiaries are, and
at all relevant times have been, engaged in activities affecting “commerce” as defined in Section
4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12.
17.
The Proposed Transaction constitutes a transaction subject to Section 7 of the
Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.
RESPONDENTS AND PROPOSED ACQUISITION
18.
Respondent Meta is a publicly traded company organized under the laws of
Delaware with headquarters in Menlo Park, California. Meta develops and sells VR and other
extended reality hardware and software through its “Reality Labs” division. Reality Labs has
been growing at breakneck speed: it generated revenues of $2.274 billion in 2021, which
reflected a 127% jump from 2019 and a 100% increase since 2020. Meta’s best-selling VR
hardware product to date is the Meta Quest 2, while its best-selling VR software product is the
wildly popular Beat Saber, which was initially released by Beat Games, a studio that Meta
acquired in 2019. Meta continues to add new downloadable content to Beat Saber; for example,
it recently added a “Lady Gaga Music Pack” available for a $12.99 add-on fee.
19.
Respondent Mark Zuckerberg is the founder, Chairman, CEO, and controlling
shareholder of Respondent Meta. Mark Zuckerberg is the Ultimate Parent Entity of and
ultimately controls Respondent Meta. His offices are located at 1601 Willow Road, Menlo Park,
California, 94025.
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20.
Respondent Within is a privately held virtual and augmented reality company
organized under the laws of Delaware with headquarters—and its principal business—in Los
Angeles, California. Founded by Chris Milk and Aaron Koblin, Within’s flagship product is
Supernatural, a VR subscription fitness service. Supernatural offers over 800 fully immersive VR
workouts, each set to music and located in a virtual setting like the Galapagos Islands or the
Great Wall of China. Through deals with major music studios, Supernatural continues to grow its
catalog, which includes songs from A-list artists like Katy Perry, Imagine Dragons, Lady Gaga,
and Coldplay. Supernatural’s workouts are fitness classes that customers can access by paying a
monthly subscription fee of $18.99, or a yearly subscription fee of $179.99. Supernatural is
presently only available on the Meta Quest and Quest 2 and is sold in the United States and
Canada.
21.
On October 22, 2021, Meta and Within signed an Agreement and Plan of Merger,
pursuant to which Meta would acquire all shares of Within in a transaction valued at
.
INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
22.
The VR industry is currently characterized by a high degree of innovation and
growth. Global sales are predicted to more than double in just three years, from $5 billion in
2021 to more than $12 billion in 2024.
23.
Users typically engage with the VR experience through a headset with displays in
front of each eye to place a user in a fully rendered, three-dimensional environment. Cuttingedge VR technology creates an immersive digital experience like no other. VR users can
instantly be transported anywhere in the world, backward or forward in time, into outer space or
fictional lands—all from the comfort and safety of their own homes. Unlike a game, video, or
app on a tablet, phone, or monitor, the three-dimensional VR environment creates the perception
of completely surrounding the user, allowing the user to move around in the projected space. As
Mark Zuckerberg explains, “you’re right there with another person or in another place and that’s
very different from every experience of technology that we’ve had before. . . .”
24.
Meta’s Quest 2 is the best-selling VR headset and has been since shortly after its
launch in 2020. In 2020, Meta shipped more than 62% of all VR headsets sold worldwide. That
percentage surged to 78% in 2021, when industry sources estimate that Meta sold more than 8.7
million Quest 2 headsets.
25.
The vast majority of users get apps for VR headsets from online app stores, which
distribute products for use on individual VR devices. Meta controls its own app store called the
“Meta Quest Store,” with more than 400 apps available for download. Meta also offers the “App
Lab,” a Meta-produced tool that allows third-party developers to distribute apps not present in
the Meta Quest Store directly to consumers. Other VR app stores include Valve’s Steam Store
and SideQuest, but the Meta Quest Store is the leading VR app store in the United States.
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26.
VR software and studio companies like Within develop the apps that run on VR
headsets. These apps run the gamut of genres from rhythm games to shooters to e-sports to
creation and exploration and more.
27.
Meta’s Beat Saber, an
enormously popular rhythm game “where you slash the beats of adrenaline-pumping music as
they fly towards you, surrounded by a futuristic world.” Meta acquired control of Beat Saber
through its purchase of Beat Games
in
November 2019.
28.
Since its acquisition of Beat Games, Meta has continued to acquire a series of
studios behind many popular VR apps, and now boasts one of the largest first-party VR content
organizations in the world:
a. In January 2020, Meta acquired Sanzaru games, maker of the fantasy Viking
combat game Asgard’s Wrath.
b. In May 2020, Meta acquired Ready at Dawn Studios, maker of Lone Echo II, a
zero-gravity adventure game, and Echo VR, an online team-based sports game.
c. In April 2021, Meta acquired Downpour Interactive, maker of Onward, a teambased first-person shooter.
d. In May 2021, Meta acquired BigBox VR, maker of Population One, a multiplayer
first-person arena shooter.
e. In June 2021, Meta acquired Unit 2 Games, the maker of Crayta, a collaborative
platform that allows users to create and play their own games.
f. And, in November 2021, Meta acquired Twisted Pixel, a studio that makes
various games, including Path of the Warrior (a fighting game), B-Team (a firstperson shooter), and Wilson’s Heart (a mystery noir thriller game).
29.
In addition to the aforementioned acquisitions, Meta has developed and released
its own VR apps. These include:
a. Horizon Worlds, a Massively Multiplayer Online game that allows users to build,
share, and interact in virtual worlds;
b. Horizon Workrooms, a productivity app that lets teams of people share their
computer screens, collaborate on virtual whiteboards, and more;
c. Horizon Venues, a live-events app that lets users experience concerts, sporting
events, and more; and
d. Horizon Home, a social-space app that lets users hang out with their friends,
watch videos together, and join multiplayer VR games together.
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effectively raise barriers to entry and expansion as other companies interested in the space will
understand that they need to compete with a deep-pocketed platform operator that owns the
VR fitness app and the
VR dedicated fitness app.
130. Respondents cannot demonstrate cognizable, verifiable, transaction-specific
efficiencies that would be sufficient to reverse the strong presumption and evidence of the
Proposed Acquisition’s likely significant anticompetitive effects.
VIOLATION
COUNT I – Illegal Acquisition
131. The allegations above in paragraphs 1 to 130 are incorporated by reference as
though fully set forth.
132. The Proposed Acquisition, if consummated, may substantially lessen competition
or tend to create a monopoly in the relevant markets in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act,
as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18 and is an unfair method of competition that violates Section 5 of the
FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45.
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NOTICE
Notice is hereby given to the Respondents that the 19th of January, 2023 at 10:00 a.m., is
hereby fixed as the time, and the Federal Trade Commission offices at 600 Pennsylvania
Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington, D.C. 20580, as the place, when and where an
evidentiary hearing will be had before an Administrative Law Judge of the Federal Trade
Commission, on the charges set forth in this complaint, at which time and place you will have
the right under the Federal Trade Commission Act and the Clayton Act to appear and show
cause why an order should not be entered requiring you to cease and desist from the
violations of law charged in the complaint.
You are notified that the opportunity is afforded you to file with the Commission an answer
to this complaint on or before the fourteenth (14th) day after service of it upon you. An
answer in which the allegations of the complaint are contested shall contain a concise
statement of the facts constituting each ground of defense; and specific admission, denial, or
explanation of each fact alleged in the complaint or, if you are without knowledge thereof, a
statement to that effect. Allegations of the complaint not thus answered shall be deemed to
have been admitted.
If you elect not to contest the allegations of fact set forth in the complaint, the answer shall
consist of a statement that you admit all of the material facts to be true. Such an answer shall
constitute a waiver of hearings as to the facts alleged in the complaint and, together with the
complaint, will provide a record basis on which the Commission shall issue a final decision
containing appropriate findings and conclusions and a final order disposing of the
proceeding. In such answer, you may, however, reserve the right to submit proposed findings
and conclusions under Rule 3.46 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice for Adjudicative
Proceedings.
Failure to file an answer within the time above provided shall be deemed to constitute a
waiver of your right to appear and to contest the allegations of the complaint and shall
authorize the Commission, without further notice to you, to find the facts to be as alleged in
the complaint and to enter a final decision containing appropriate findings and conclusions,
and a final order disposing of the proceeding.
The Administrative Law Judge shall hold a prehearing scheduling conference not later than
ten (10) days after the Respondents file their answers. Unless otherwise directed by the
Administrative Law Judge, the scheduling conference and further proceedings will take place
at the Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington,
D.C. 20580. Rule 3.21(a) requires a meeting of the parties’ counsel as early as practicable
before the pre-hearing scheduling conference (but in any event no later than five (5) days
after the Respondents file their answers). Rule 3.31(b) obligates counsel for each party,
within five (5) days of receiving the Respondents’ answers, to make certain initial disclosures
without awaiting a discovery request.
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NOTICE OF CONTEMPLATED RELIEF
Should the Commission conclude from the record developed in any adjudicative
proceedings in this matter that the Acquisition challenged in this proceeding violates Section 5 of
the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and/or Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as
amended, the Commission may order such relief against Respondents as is supported by the
record and is necessary and appropriate, including, but not limited to:
1. A prohibition against any transaction between Respondents that combines
their business, except as may be approved by the Commission.
2. If the Acquisition is consummated, divestiture or reconstitution of all
associated and necessary assets, in a manner that restores two or more distinct
and separate businesses, with the ability to offer such products and services as
Meta and Within were offering and planning to offer prior to the Acquisition.
3. A requirement that, for a period of time, Respondents shall not, without giving

prior notice to and obtaining the prior approval of the Commission, acquire,
merge with, consolidate, or combine their businesses with any other company
engaged in business activity in the relevant markets and, if necessary, in
related business activity and markets.

4. A requirement to file periodic compliance reports with the Commission.
5. Requiring that Respondents’ compliance with the order may be monitored at
Respondents’ expense by an independent monitor, for a term to be determined
by the Commission.
6. Any other relief to correct or remedy the anticompetitive effects of the
Acquisition or to restore Within as an independent business.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Federal Trade Commission has caused this complaint to
be signed by its Secretary and its official seal to be hereto affixed, at Washington, D.C., this
11th day of August, 2022.
By the Commission.
April J. Tabor
Secretary

SEAL:

22

